


The e arliest reference of a brid g e spanning  the San Antonio River d a tes to 1736, when a 
priest at the Mission San Antonio d e Valero requested  that six wood en b e a m s b e plac e d  
a cross the river just south of  the colony of at La Villita. The m akeshift brid g e was erecte d  
at what is now thoug ht to b e the Com m erce Street Brid g e, allowing  sold iers from  the local 
presid io and  newly arrived  Canary Island ers access to church services at the m ission. But 
soon there a fter, the brid g e’s b e a m s were rem ove d  to construct a new m ission church. The 
brid g e’s re m oval was d ue, in part, to claim s by the priest at Mission San Antonio d e Valero, 
asserting  that sold iers from  the m ilitary presid io were m olesting  N a tive Am eric an wom en 
at the m ission.  Eventually the Spanish m ilitary g overnor of Texas ord ere d  a new brid g e 
b uilt in the sa m e loc ation, m uch to the d ism ay of the m ission priest.  

The brid g e would  subsequently b e com e a sym b ol of the power strug g le b etwe en 
m ilitary and  relig ious fa ctions within San Antonio.  Once a g ain the  m ission priest 
ord ere d  the brid g e d ism antle d . In retaliation, the Spanish g overnor com m an-
d e ere d  a  g roup of N ative Am eric ans from  the m ission, ord ering  them  to re build  
the brid g e as it stood b e fore. The pa d re, in a final reprisal, pla c e d  N a tive Am eri-
can sentries at the entrance to the brid g e, there by preventing  its use by the m ili-
tary g a rrison. The episod e would b e a prescient exa mple of the sig nificance 
b rid g es would  play in San Antonio’s d evelopm ent over the next two hund re d  
and  fifty ye ars. 

Steel engraving print of San Antonio from  Meyer's Universum, ca. 1850s (Courtesy of the Star of 
the Repub lic Museum ).  

Early survey of the San Antonio River, ca. 1830s (Courtesy of 
the Texas General Land  O ffice).  

Early San Antonio Bridges   



 Six Timber Quota  
Poor construction, frequent flood ing , and  the rapid  d eterioration of wood en b e a m s all helpe d  to contribute to brid g es continual attention b y city officials. During  the Spanish colonial 
period , the m aintenance of brid g es, like other pub lic works projects, was the responsibility of the entire com m unity. As the following  excerpt sug g ests, San Antonians were oftentim es 
conscripted  to build  b rid g es und er the thre at of penalty or prison.  

 Minutes from  the City of Sa n Antonio ayunta m iento,  
 Decem b er, 1-10, 1818:  

 
“En 1° d e Diciem bre d e 1818, se juntaron a Cavild o extraordinario los seño-
res que lo com ponen presidid o d el Alcald e d e 1er voto, Dn. José M A   Sam bra-
no, colocados por su ord en según estilo, se leyó un oficio d el Sr. Gov. en la 
que encarg a a los señores. Alcald es hag an presente a el Cuerpo Capitular su 
contenid o; y su d eseo sobre reconvención para que haga el puente por dond e 
se com unica la m ayor parte d el Pueblo con el barrio d el Alam o, y com o el 
aseo y limpieza de calles, y el d escuid o que atribuye a la falta de su obligación 
justa a este cuerpo com o a su Sindico procurador y Alcald es d e Barrio. Se 
dispuso que inm ed iatam ente se tom aran las provid encias necesarias para dar 
cum plim iento a lo prevenido por dicho Sr. Gov. pidiénd ole al m ism o tiem po 
la asistencia de las tropas para que con su ayuda podrán los vecinos reed ifi-
car la obra de que se trata y al Procurador Sindico y Alcald e d e Barrio en que 
velan y  vigilen. Sobre el aseo y la buena ord en y quanto d em a nd a observar 
por los band os d e buen g obierno [… ]  
 
[Diciem bre 10th ] se trato sobre el estado actual d e la recom posición d e puente 
estand o presente el Com isiona do Dn. Vicente Gortari quien dijo que se nece-
sitaban para su cabal com postura tres horsones y doscientos vig as d e cedro y 
al efecto se dispuso que se institujese un reconocim iento por los Alcald es d el 
Barrio d e las Carrettas que había útiles entre el vecind ario para que vayan a 
traer la m adera que se necesite con el bien entendid o d e que el que pudiere d e 
los vecinos hacer esta fatig a y se neg ase a ella baxo [bajo] algún pretesto que 
no sea justo se le im pone por la falta nueve pesos d e m ulta por haberse regu-
la do que es el precio d e las seis m osillas que a cada uno le correspond e aguan-
tar habiénd ose dispuesto al m ism o tiem po que indistintam ente d ebía  de lle-
var cada carreta un cortador d e m a d era que por separado hará su fatig a [… ]” 

[English translation] 
 
 
“On Decem b er 1st , 1818, there m et in Special Council the g entlem en who form  it, 
presid ing  the First Alcald e Don Jose Maria Sam b rano, and  plac e d  b y prece d enc e as 
usual, there was re a d  a com m unication from  the Governor, in which he charg es the 
Alc ald es to c all its contents to the attention of this Bod y, and  to his repe ated  insis-
tence that the brid g e b e  b uilt where the m ajority of the people g o b a c k and  forth to 
the Alam o quarter; and  a lso to the ne atness and  cle aning  of the streets and  c areless-
ness that he b lam es upon a d isre g ard  for their just ob lig a tion b y this Bod y as also b y 
its Procurator and  the sub urb a n Alc ald es. It was resolved  that the necessary m e as-
ures would  b e taken at once to carry into effect what the a foresaid  Governor or-
d ered ; at the sam e tim e requesting  of him  the help of the troops so that with their 
aid , the citizens will b e a b le to reconstruct the work und er d iscussion; and  
(requesting ) the Procurator (to co-operate ) and  the sub urb a n Alc ald es (in the quar-
ters) in which they keep watch and  ward . Also (the steps taken to ensure) ne atness 
(of the streets) and  g ood  ord er and  a ll is ord ered  to b e  d one, b y the proclam ations of 
g ood  g overnm ent […]  
 
[Decem b er 10th ] There was a d iscussion of the a ctual state of repairs to the brid g e; 
b e ing  present Don Vicente Gortari, com m issioned  to d o the work, who said  that for 
its com plete repair there were ne e d ed  three piles and  two hund re d  ce d ar b e a m s; and  
it was ord ered , for the purpose, that there b e instituted  a n investig ation b y the sub-
urb a n Alc ald es of the usa b le c arts there were am ong  resid ents so they m ay g o to 
b ring  in the need ed  tim b ers; it b e ing  thoroug hly und erstood  that those am ong  the 
citizens who m ay b e ab le to d o this task and  who refuse to d o, for any reason that is 
not le g itim ate, shall b e fine d  nine pesos for his fault, b ec ause it has b e e n ruled  that it 
is the price of the six tim b ers that is the quota for ea ch one to carry; it having b e e n 
resolved  a t the sam e tim e that without d istinction ea ch c art m ust carry a wood -cutter 
who will d o the work that correspond s to him  ind epend ently.“   



Bridges during the Antebellum Period  

Painting d epicting the Com m erce Street Brid g e, ca. 1850s (Courtesy of the San Antonio Pub lic Lib rary, Texana/Genealogy Depart-

“Sa n Antonio tod ay with m a ny orna m enta l 
brid g es a cross its b eautiful river was once a city 
without a single spa n. As the river weaved  its 
tortuous way through the center of the city, it 
was the dividing line of the two distinct settle-
m ents, Sa n Ferna nd o d e Bexar on the west sid e, 
centered  around what is now San Ferna ndo ca-
thedra l, a nd San Antonio d e Va lero on the east 
sid e with the Ala m o in the center. The only 
m ea ns of com munication b etween these two 
points was a ford a cross the river at what has 
b een known for m a ny years as Mill brid g e, on 
N avarro street, for here the river was wid e and  
sha llow. At a ll other points it was d eep and  
narrow. [… ] Such was the crud e m ea ns of cross-
ing the river from  the Ala m o to Sa n Ferna nd o 
until the first com b ination foot and wa gon 
brid g e was built. That was a crud e wood en 
structure consisting of stringers thrown a cross 
the strea m  supported by heavy tim b er set up-
right in the m id d le of the river a nd a long the 
b a nks of both sid es to serve as a butm ents. 
Crosspieces were pla ces over these stringers a s 
they were hewn to the d esired  size a nd  shape to 
serve as a flooring as sm ooth a nd even as was 
possible with the limited  fa cilities for brid g e 
building that those d ays and tim es a fford ed.”  
 
— Re m iniscenc es of Fre d  M ose b a ch, typesetter    
    for the San Antonio Light, Aug ust 23, 1936 



 Bridges during the Antebellum period  

 
“These brid g es were called  single and d ouble brid g es. A d ouble brid g e was where 
the stakes were placed in the m id d le of the river as well as on each sid e of the 
river. In the d ouble brid g es, a brid g e was brought from  each sid e of the river to 
stakes in the center. W hen high water cam e, the brid g e, com ing from  each sid e, 
was loosened  from  the stakes in the center and each half of the brid g e swung to-
wards its own banks, thus saving and protecting the brid g e. The single brid g e, 
wherever it was placed, want directly across the river and when high water cam e 
one end was unfastened from  its back and the entire brid g e thus swung close to 
the other bank. All of the brid g es, both single and d ouble, were on barrels. There 
was a single brid g e on Com m erce Street right where it is now; and there was 
another sing le brid g e behind the courthouse— where French’s Place is now—
which went to Bowen’s island where W olfram ’s Gard en used to be, and where the 
Volkfest were held.”    
 
—Miss Fried rich, rem iniscing ab out pre-Civil War San Antonio, 1939 
    interview 

The prob lem s associate d  with b rid g e construction and  repair in Sa n Antonio would  b e  chronic throug hout m uch of the 19th c entury, 
with petitions period ic ally sub m itte d  to the city council d e crying  the paltry state of various b rid g es throug hout the city. In 1841, San 
Antonio M ayor Juan Se guin b ese e che d  the city council to “take into consid eration the State of Ruin in which the Brid g es of the River 
are found  in and  consequently he b e g g e d  that on the next Thursd ay they would  present a proje ct to raise a tax on such of repe ate d  
taxes to cover the com prom ise into which the Build er of a g ood  & perm a nent Brid g e to a fford  the passa g e of her citizens & travelers.” 
This eventually le d  to the construction of several b rid g es a cross the Sa n Antonio River in the 1840s, includ ing  a stone footb rid g e  b y 
Rod erick F. Hig g inb otha m  a t the  river crossing  a t Mission Conc epción, and  a wood en b rid g e at the site of present-d ay Com m erc e 
Stre et. Sa n Antonio’s larg e num b er of b rid g es, com b ine d  with the constant thre at of flood ing , m e a nt that citizens were responsib le for 
footb rid g es a long  the lesser irrig a tion d itches and  the m a ny crossing s along  San Pe d ro Cre ek. These crossing s were usually prim itive 
in construction, consisting  of b a rrels laid a cross the b e d  of the river, with a series of pla nks pla c e d  on top for foot travel. These hand -
cra fte d  b rid g es were g e nerally of two types, sing le b arrel for shorter crossing s and  d oub le b arrels for long e r spans.  

Sing le brid g es were atta che d  to one sid e of the riverb a nk a nd  could  b e e asily furle d  in the c ase of flood ing, 
while d oub le brid g es were just two sing le brid g es conjoine d  a t a sing le point in the m id d le of the riverb e d . 
Like the sing le brid g e, e a ch half of the d oub le brid g e could  b e  quickly d rawn to the riverb a nk in the c ase 
of flood ing . Sinc e m a ny of these footb rid g es, b oth sing le and  d oub le b arrele d , were the work of layper-
sons, footb rid g es were often b uilt as sim ply and  econom ic ally as possib le. The city could  only a fford  to 
fund  the construction of b rid g es at m a jor river crossing s, b ut stre et com m issioners still m aintaine d  the au-
thority to repair d ilapid ate d  b rid g es a cross the city, som etim es charg ing  ind ivid ua l citizens for the upke ep 
of sm a ller footb rid g es.   

(right) Juan N. Seguin, Mayor of San An-
tonio, 1841-1842 . He would eventually 
resign his position as m ayor, due to “the 
d isord erly state in which our unfortunate 
county is actually placed .” (Photograph 
courtesy of Texas State Lib rary and  Ar-
chives).   



The Problem of Flooding   

fund s for their m aintenanc e and  upke ep. On avera g e, 
wood en brid g es ha d  a  m a xim um  lifespan of twenty 
ye ars b e fore they ne e d e d  to b e replac e d . But with fre-
quent flood ing  along  b oth San Pe d ro Creek and  the San 
Antonio River, a m a jority of the city’s brid g es were re-
plac e d  m uch m ore frequently, with m ost brid g es requir-
ing   at le ast som e type of m aintenance on a ye arly b asis.  
Even the sim plest brid g e repairs were a consid era b le ex-
pense to the city and  taxpayers, and  with ninete en 
brid g es across the San Antonio River and  San Pe d ro 
Creek b y 1873, even a sing le flood  could  prove to b e 
costly.  

(left) Letter from  William  Lang e to 
the City of San Antonio City 
Council, offering to repair a foot-
b rid g e across San Ped ro Creek, 
Decem b er 28, 1865.  

Thoug h the city council soug ht to im prove the cond ition of brid g es along  the river in the 1840s, brid g es 
were consistently swept away by rain and  flood . The Com m erce Street Brid g e was once a g ain d a m a g e d  in 
the flood  of 1852, presenting  a “very unb e com ing appe arance; the tim b er is rotting  fast, the b anisters are 
broken, and  in fa ct it is g iving  way in every part. Once or twice it has b e e n so out of fix that carria g es and  
wa g g ons could  not pass.” It would  not b e until 1860 that fund s could b e  secured  for the construction of a 
new wood en brid g e a cross Com m erce Street. The brid g e’s reconstruction was spurred  in larg e part by liti-
g a tion broug ht a g a inst the city in 1856, following  the d e ath of nine-ye ar-old  Gottlie b Gla eser, after he fell throug h a rotten plank in 
the brid g e. But as long  as a m ajority of the city’s brid g es were constructe d  of wood  the city would  continue to have to provid e  

(right) Schleicher, 
Giraud, and  Consid er-
ant’s report to the San 
Antonio City Council 
concerning the flood -
ing of the San Anto-
nio River, April 31, 
1865.  



Despite the fa ct that m any sing le brid g es could b e  rolle d b a c k to the shore in the case of flood s, oftentim es d oub le brid g es, used  for b oth foot and  wa g on traffic, were d estroyed  b y their 
com b ination of inflexibility and  we akness in the fa c e of any substantial incre ase in waterflow. Even thoug h brid g es proved  to b e a severe financial b urd en to the city, som e citizens still 
b e lieve d  that city com m issioners and  eng ine ers faile d  to ke ep up with the d em and  for brid g e repairs. As the following  e d itorial sug g ests, this som etim es plac e d  city officials in an unten-
a b le position.  
         “The City Council and  the Brid g e Question” from  the San Antonio Daily Express on July 11, 1878:   

  “Our city council is a g a in d iscussing  a brid g e question. The d iscussion involves the construction of thre e brid g es, all in one b end  of the river, to wit; Over the 
river at the Groos alley, the Lewis m ill and  a  new brid g e at the Com m erce street crossing . The expense of constructing  these brid g es would  not fall far short of 
$50,000 or the full sum  of the last b ond  issue. That the Com m erce Street Brid g e is unsa fe, all who have exa m ine d  it a g ree. The reports of eng ine ers, accepted  as 
correct by the Council at Tuesd ay’s m e eting , pronounce the tim b ers b e aring  the weig ht of the structure to b e d e c aye d  a nd  lia b le to yield  und er heavy pressure 
at any tim e. In accord ance, with these reports, the council passed  a resolution d eclaring  the brid g e unsafe for he avy vehicles, which will here a fter cross it at 
their own peril. But the sa m e a ld erm en who voted  the passag e of a resolution to the a bove a ffe ct, refused  to replac e the old  b rid g e by a new and  substantial 
structure. The Council also refused  to conce d e to a proposition to build  a  brid g e over the river at the Groos alley. The sam e a ction followe d  when it was sug -
g ested  that a brid g e at the Lewis m ill should b e  built. W hat sort of a le g islation is this? Is it consistent? A few weeks a g o, a m ajority of the Councilm en favored , 
jud g ing  from  their sentim ents, the erection two new iron brid g es. A m ajority cond em ne d  Com m erce Street Brid g e as an unsafe structure.  
 
All conce d e d  to the g re at nec essity of a fford ing  the m ost free ac c ess to Com m erce street in the interest of the business transactions of that thoroug hfare. But the 
id entical m en who join in this im m e d iately fa c e a bout, prohib it he avy vehicles from  crossing  the brid g e, and  so actually cre ate what they professed  to b e en-
d e avoring  to avert a d epression of the tra d e of the thoroug hfare. To a “looker-on in Venice” the procee d ing s of the Council on this question can b ut b e charac-
terized  as little b etter than child ’s play. There is no point to them , nor is there a particle of consistency a b out them . That a new brid g e is ne e d e d  on Com m erce 
Street, is certainly a fa ct. The clum sy, tottering  structure, now in use, is a d isg rac e to the city. Had  it b e e n d one a ye ar a g o, the m ove would  have b e en sustaine d  
as jud icious. W hen a brid g e is unsafe, no one can say exa ctly the d ay or the hour that it m ay fall. Had  the vast concourse of people […] W ould  it not have b e en 
possib le that four or five hund re d  of our b est citizens, and  perhaps our worthy representative him self, m ig ht have b e en hurle d  he a d long  a living  m ass into the 
river at the m ercy of the water, the crushing  tim b ers and  one another’s weig ht? W e mig ht have ha d  a c atastrophe so shocking  that even to im a g ine its possibil-
ity alm ost un-[?] one’s nerves. The m atter is one of im portance to the city and  to her people, looke d  to for jud g m ents in d a m a g e  suits, und er no circum stances, 
are not incline d  to re g ard  the question with that d e g re e of levity which characterized  the action our City Council when the proposition to replac e the old  b rid g e 
with a substantial one cam e d irectly b e fore it.”   

“a Murderous condition” 



San Antonio’s Iron Bridges  
Beg inning  in 1868, San Antonio slowly b e g a n to replac e its wood en brid g es with a sym b ol of the 
b urg eoning  ind ustrial revolution— the iron brid g e. Prior to the Civil W ar, San Antonio was still 
larg ely consid ere d  a  b ord er town on the fring e of b oth the Am eric an and  M exic an frontiers. Even 
thoug h San Antonio was the larg est city in Texas and  consid ere d , along  with Galveston, to b e the 
econom ic center of Texas, both were only m arg inally integ rate d  into the nation’s econom y until 
the 1880’s. Townspeople hoped  that with western expansion would  com e econom ic prosperity 
and  m od ernization Soon a fter the Civil W ar, San Antonio  quickly b e c a m e a prim ary hub for 
westward  expansion, b olstering  its population, com m ercial interests, and  eventually cre ating  a 
ne e d  for m ore relia b le pub lic infrastructure. 

Photograph of a Moseley arch truss b rid g e (now located  on the cam pus of Merrim ack Colle g e ) sim i-
lar in d esign to San Antonio’s first iron footb rid g e (Photograph courtesy of the Historic Am erican 
Engineering Record  Lib rary of Congress, Prints and  Photograph Division, Washington, D.C.  USA).  

Blueprint of the Moseley arch truss b rid g e sim ilar to the first iron footb rid g e in San Anto-
nio (Courtesy of the Historic Am erican Engineering Record  Lib rary of Congress, Prints 
and  Photograph Division, Washington, D.C.  USA).  

Given San Antonio’s historic prob lem  of flood ing a long  the San Antonio River and  its 
d esire to attract the southern expansion of the transcontinental  railroa d  , the city d e-
cid e d  to invest its newfound  prosperity in brid g e construction. The city’s first iron 
brid g e was a footbrid g e built by the Boston firm  of Moseley Ironworks, and  plac e d  
over the San Antonio River at St. Mary’s Street in 1868. The ped estrian brid g e em -
ployed  a Moseley truss extend ing  82 fe et over the river, its d esig n a slig htly variation 
of the more typical arch-truss brid g e, but with vertical suspension rod s built for 
a d d e d  support. The brid g e would  serve as San Antonio’s only iron brid g e until three 
ye ars later in 1871, when the city officials d ecid e d  to outfit m ultiple river crossing s 
with larg er iron brid g es to accom m od ate ped estrians, wa g ons, and  c arg o.  



The city’s orig inal 1871 plan calle d  for four iron brid g es to b e built at river crossing s 
along  Arsenal, Com m erce, N avarro, and  Convent streets, but d ue to bud g etary con-
straints, only a sing le iron brid g e was built across the San Antonio River at Houston 
Street. The brid g e was m ost likely constructe d  b y King  Iron Brid g e Works in Cleve-
land , Ohio, then transported  b y rail to N ew Orleans and  shipped  b y b oat to Ind ia-
nola, Texas, where it was eventually loa d e d  onto fourteen wa g ons b ound  for San 
Antonio. Once in San Antonio, the brid g e was installe d  b y Gustav Scheicher, a San 
Antonio civil eng ineer who later went on to serve as a State Senator and  representa-
tive to Cong ress.  

Photograph of the Houston Street Brid g e, ca. 1873 (Courtesy of the Institute of 
Texan Cultures).  

The brid g e was a suspension truss known as a short span Fink truss, a rectiline ar brid g e with 
an overlapping  latticework of suspension c a b les d esig ne d  to support the brid g e’s d eck. The 
brid g e would  rem ain at Houston Street for only twelve ye ars, eventually m oving  to Grand  
Avenue to support a new trolley line in 1885, until it was finally m oved  to Hild e brand  Street 
in 1927. But the Houston and  St. Mary’s Street brid g es were only the first of m any iron 
brid g es purchase d  b y the city d uring  the latter half of the ninete enth century, until rein-
force d  concrete b e c am e the preferred  construction m aterial for brid g es in the 1910s. Iron 
brid g es m a d e by b oth the Z. King  Iron Brid g e Com pany and  the Berlin Iron Brid g e Com pany 
would  eventually b e a d d e d  a t several other places along  the San Antonio River, includ ing  
brid g es at Groos Alley (Com m erce St.) in 1880 and  the Mill Brid g e (N a varro St.) in 1881.  

San Antonio’s first iron b rid g es at St. Mary’s Street (upper) and Houston Street (lower). From     
Augustus Koch’s Bird’s Eye View of the City of San Antonio, 1873 (Courtesy of Am on Carter       
Museum ).    

San Antonio’s Iron Bridges  



Most of iron brid g es that still span the San Antonio River are the result of the city’s purchase of five 
iron brid g es in 1890 from  the Berlin Iron Brid g e Com pany, a Connecticut firm  specializing  in len-
ticular (para b olic) truss brid g es. The city com m issione d  the five brid g es to b e built for river cross-
ing s at Crockett, Market, Aug usta (née Convent) , South Presa, and  St. Mary’s streets for a price of 
$37,929,  which tod ay would  equal roug hly $850,341.  O f the orig inal five brid g es, only three still 
survive in their orig inal loc ations at Crockett, Aug usta, and  South Presa streets, while a fourth 
brid g e, orig inally installe d  a t N . St. Mary’s Street, was eventually m oved   to its present loc ation in 
Brackenrid g e Park in 1937.     

Berlin Iron Brid g e Com pany’s original d rawing of the N. St. Mary’s Street Brid g e, later 
m oved  to Brackenrid g e Park, ca. 1890.     

Monogram  of the Berlin Iron Brid g e Com pany 
on a colum n of the Augusta Street Brid g e, 1890.  

Inaugural plaque of the Augusta Street Brid g e, 
1890 .  

Three of the brid g es at Crockett, Aug usta, and  Presa streets were m a d e of cast iron 
with a Pennsylvania-petit, arche d -truss d esig n. Each brid g e was built with lattice d  
wroug ht iron railing s, which still a d orn the brid g es at Crockett, Market, and  South 
Presa streets. The brid g es at Aug usta street and  Brackenrid g e Park b oth have d is-
tinctive d esig ns with wroug ht iron colum ns encasing  ea ch end  of the brid g e, while 
the brid g e at Brackenrid g e Park is only one of the five built with a lenticular truss, a 
para b olic-shape d  truss that runs along  the m id d le leng th of the brid g e provid ing  
extra support for he avy carg o. The Brackenrid g e Park brid g e is also the only one of 
the five built with a d ecorative arch portal containing  the brid g e’s inaug ural 
plaque.   

San Antonio’s iron Bridges 



Commerce St.— San Antonio’s Literary bridge 
The Com m erc e Stre et Brid g e was also the favorite loc ation of author Sid ney Lanier, who visite d  
Sa n Antonio d uring  the winter of 1872-73 with the hope that San Antonio’s d ry air would  help to 
alleviate his tub erculosis. The brid g e was the site of La nier’s often cite d  passa g e on the unique 
chara cter of Sa n Antonio: 

“At the Com m erc e St. Brid g e  over the Sa n Antonio River, stand s a post supporting a  larg e sig n 
b oard  upon which appe ars the following  thre e le g e nd s:  
 W a lk your horse over this brid g e or you will be fined .  
 Schuelles Reiten uber diese Brucke ist verboten.  
 And a d espacio con su cab allo, Ò  tem e la ley.  
To the  m e d itative stroller a cross this b rid g e ,— and  on a soft d a y when the Gulf b re eze 
a nd  sunshine are king  a nd  que en, any strang er m a y b e sa fely d e fie d  to cross this 
b rid g e  without b e c om ing  m e d itative—there is a fine satire in the varying  tone of these 
inscriptions— for they are no m e a ns faithful translations of e a ch other; a satire all the 
ke ener in that it m ust have b e e n wholly unconscious. For m a rk, “walk your horse etc., 
or you will b e fine d . This is an Am eric an’s warning : the alternative is a  m oney consid -
eration, and  the appe al is solely to the pocket. But now the Germ a n is sim ply in-
form e d  that Schuelles Reiten over this b rid g e  ist verboten—is forb id d en; as who should  
say: ‘So, thou quiet, law-a b id ing  Teuton, enoug h for the e to know that it is forb id d en 
sim ply.’ And  lastly, the Mexic an d ire ction takes wholly a  d ifferent turn from  either: 
Slow there with your horse, Mexic ano, Ò  tem e la ley— or fear the law!’”  

Commerce Street Bridge from 1880 to 1914, when it was moved to its current location at Johnson 
Street. The bridge was commonly referred to as ’O. Henry’s Bridge’ (Photograph courtesy of the    
Historic Am erican Engineering Record  Library of Congress, Prints and  Photograph Division). 

But the Com m erce Stre et Brid g e prob a b ly g a ine d  m ost of its present d ay notoriety b y the 
num erous literary d escriptions of it in the latter half of the ninete enth c entury. Fre d erick 
Law Olm ste d , d esig ner of N ew York City’s Central Park, d escrib e d  the brid g e d uring  his 
travels throug h Texas in 1856-1857, rem arking  that “the principal part of the town lies 
within a swe ep of the river upon the other sid e. W e d esc end  to the brid g e, which is close 
d own upon the water, as the river, owing  to its peculiar source, never varies in heig ht or 
tem perature. W e irresistib ly stop to exa m ine it, we are so struck with its b e auty. It is of a 
rich b lue and  pure as crystal, flowing  rapid ly b ut noiselessly over pe b b les and  b etwe en 
re e d y b a nks. One could  le an for hours over the brid g e-rail. From  the brid g e we enter 
Com m erce St. the narrow principle thoroug hfare.”  

O f all of Sa n Antonio’s b rid g es, none possib ly have a m ore storie d  past than the Com m erc e Stre et 
Brid g e loc ate d  a t the corner of E. Com m erc e and  Loyosa stre ets. Thoug h not the old est b rid g e in 
Sa n Antonio, its loc ation in the he art of the city and  its proxim ity to the Mission d e Valero have 
m a d e it one of the m ost historic ally sig nific ant river crossing s along  the Sa n Antonio River. The 
b rid g e was the site of one of the first river crossing s along  the Sa n Antonio River, and  it was also 
use d  b y Santa Anna’s troops to lay sie g e to the Ala m o. The brid g e is first m entione d  in the m in-
utes of the city council in 1841, when M ayor John W . Sm ith com m issione d  Rod erick F. 
Hig g inb otha m  to “raise a Brid g e a cross the River in the Com m erce St. which runs to the Ala m o.”  



From  Com m erce Street Brid g e b y M arg aret Cousins  
Onc e there was only a footpath here,  
W here the river slips b y— 
A sc attering  of stepping  stones  
For the ste a lthy, m oc assine d  foot.  
How far b a c k in tim e this crossing  g oes  
N ob od y se em s to know— 
W hen the white-taile d  d e er 
Cam e here to d rink,  
The spotte d  b ob c at a nd  the gre at g rey wolf.  
But som etim e a fter that, there was a ford ,  
W ith m en a nd  horses splashing  throug h  
And  la nterns to warn them  a fter nig htfa ll.  
 
Then fina lly they b uilt a footb rid g e ,  
Swaying  hig h a b ove the April flood s,  
In the c apricious, cha ng ing  wind s of spring tim e.  
It was only a fter the wom en c am e 
That there ha d  to b e  a proper b rid g e —  
A wood e n b rid g e , with railing s,  
To ta m e the wild  crossing .  
W om en a nd  child ren ha d  to have 
Sa fe passa g e — som ething  ste a d y und erfoot,  
Som ething  to cling  to in the wild erness— 
As they trud g e d  to M ass, so far away from  hom e [...] 
 
This we ary, old , concrete a ffa ir  
W ith its g ross orna m entation, chippe d  curb s 
And  b a ttere d  sid ewalks was b uilt in our tim e.  
U g ly b ut d ura b le— g iven to g a soline eng ines  
And  tra ffic jam s a nd  the tire d  fe et of tourists – 
N o Le ft Turn! N o Parking H ere! N o Rig ht Turn! 
N o stopping  here for a ny re ason! Move on! 
N o loitering  on the brid g e . N o! N o! N o! 
W e ne e d  a  new b rid g e —  
a late twentieth century spa n  
To le ap a cross the im perturb a b le River,  
W hich has a lways known that b rid g e s com e a nd  g o  
Oh, well –we ne e d  a  lot of thing s [...] 

After repe ate d  flood ing  in 1847, 1852, and  1865, the wood en 
b rid g e of Olm ste d  a nd  La nier was repla c e d  b y a n iron truss 
b rid g e in 1880. The new iron b rid g e was d escrib e d  in several O. 
Henry short stories, m ost nota b ly “A Fog  in Sa n Antone,” in 
which a suicid al tub erculosis patient stand s upon “a little iron 
b rid g e, one of a score or m ore in the he art of the city, und er 
which the sm a ll tortuous river flows.” The brid g e would  even-
tually com e to b e c a lle d  “O. Henry’s b rid g e,” with a sm a ll 
plaque d esig nating  its m ore colloquial na m e . But in 1914, the 
iron b rid g e was a g a in repla c e d  to m a ke way for the wid ening  of 
Com m erce Stre et, and  ‘O. Henry’s b rid g e was m ove d  to its cur-
rent loc ation as a pe d estrian crossing  a t Johnson Stre et in the 
King  W illia m  District. 
The current Com m erc e Stre et Brid g e is a thre e span, T-b e a m  
concrete structure, with concrete railing s of tessellate d  lattic e-
work and  stars. W hen the brid g e was orig ina lly com plete d  in 
1914, it was a d orne d  with four colum ns, e a ch with a stoic face of 
a N ative Am eric an in profile, two water fountains, along  with 
W a ld ine Tauch’s sculpture “The First Inha b ita nt.” Tauch, a stu-
d ent of Alam o Cenotaph sculptor Pom peo Coppini, was com m is-
sione d  to m a ke the sculpture for the new b rid g e by the San An-
tonio Express for the am ount of $1,000. Eventually, the colum ns 
were rem ove d  a nd  the water fountains d isconne cte d , le aving  
Tauch’s orig inal sculpture as the brid g e’s prim ary c enterpie c e.  

Wald ine Tauch’s “The First Inhab itant.” The San Antonio 
Express com m issione d Tauch to create the artwork for the 
opening of the Com m erce Street Brid g e in 1914 for $1,000 .   

Commerce St.— San Antonio’s Literary bridge 
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